THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2014-CP-05-17 and 19  
**Appellate Case No. 2015-001183**

---

Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate  
of Mable Hodge, Deceased ..... Respondent,

v.

UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg County  
Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.;  
United Health Services, Inc.; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a  
UHS-Pruitt Corp.; R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA; and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow,

### ISSUES ON APPEAL

- III. Did the trial court err in refusing to compel the deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr.?
- IV. Did the trial court err in denying the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively, Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings?
  - a. The trial court erred in relying on the unpublished opinion *Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Op. No. 2014-UP-317 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 6, 2014).
  - b. The trial court erred in finding there was no common law agency between the Decedent and her husband, Camille Hodge, Sr.
  - c. The trial court erred in finding that the Decedent was not a third-party beneficiary of the agreement.
  - d. The trial court erred in concluding that the Plaintiffs are not equitably estopped from denying an agency relationship between Decedent and Camille Hodge, Sr.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a lawsuits filed on February 7, 2014 and February 10, 2014 by Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mable Hodge, and Camille Hodge, Sr., individually, respectively. (R. p. 71); (R. p. 81). Plaintiffs sued UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, f/k/a Bamberg County Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.; and United Health Services, Inc.; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a UHS-Pruitt Corp. (collectively referred to herein as “Defendants”)<sup>1</sup>, as well as R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow.

The Decedent, Mable Hodge, entered UniHealth Post Acute Care – Bamberg (“UPAC- Bamberg” or “the Facility”) rehabilitation facility on or about August 31, 2010. (R. p. 76, ¶16). Prior to her admission, Ms. Hodge’s husband, Camille Hodge, Sr., executed various documents related to her admission on Ms. Hodge’s behalf, including admissions paperwork containing an arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 167-213). These documents were executed by Mr. Hodge, Sr. as the representative of Ms. Hodge. This was not unusual, as Ms. Hodge allowed Mr. Hodge, Sr., to sign medical documents for her on other occasions as well. (R. pp. 262, 265-280); (R. p. 371, ll. 14-22). Ms. Hodge stayed at the facility for over three weeks without objecting to her admission.

It is alleged that beginning on September 20, 2010, Ms. Hodge complained to staff at UPAC-Bamberg that her back was hurting and that she was unable to stand or move her legs. This condition allegedly worsened over the following days until the morning of

---

<sup>1</sup> Dr. Dale Padgett, PA and Dr. Moskow did not have Arbitration Agreements with the plaintiff and have not appealed the trial court’s decision regarding arbitration. Therefore, the term “Defendants” in this case will be used to refer only to UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, f/k/a Bamberg County Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.; and United Health Services, Inc.; and UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a UHS-Pruitt Corp.

September 24, 2010, when Ms. Hodge was no longer able to feel her legs or arms and was unable to stand. She was ultimately transported to Richland Memorial Hospital with paralysis from the waist down. (R. pp. 77-78, ¶¶17-22). Plaintiffs assert that the Defendants' failure to evaluate, test, diagnose, and treat Ms. Hodge's conditions was the cause of her paralysis and other complications. (R. p. 78, ¶24).

Plaintiffs Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mable Hodge, and Camille Hodge, Sr., individually, commenced these actions by filing a Notice of Intent to Sue on August 21, 2013 (R. p. 17). Plaintiff Hodge, Jr. filed his Summons and Complaint against the Defendants on February 7, 2014. (R. p. 71). Plaintiff Hodge, Sr. filed a separate Complaint on February 10, 2014. (R. p. 81).

On March 18, 2014, the Defendants filed their Answers to the Complaint of Camille Hodge, Jr., expressly reserving their right to be heard on their Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. (R. p. 91); (R. p. 98); (R. p. 104); (R. p. 110). Contemporaneously, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. (R. p. 141). On March 27, 2014, the Defendants filed their Answers to the Complaint of Camille Hodge, Sr., expressly reserving their right to be heard on their Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings. (R. p. 116); (R. p. 123); (R. p. 129); (R. p. 135). Again, Defendants contemporaneously filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings with regard to the allegations in the Camille Hodge, Sr. Complaint. (R. p. 146).

Following the filing of their Answers and Motions, Defendants requested that they be allowed to depose Mr. Hodge, Sr. on topics solely related to the arbitration issue. After Plaintiffs objected to this request, Defendants filed their Motion to Compel the deposition of Mr. Hodge, Sr. on April 15, 2014. (R. p. 215).

On February 20, 2015, the Honorable Clifton Newman held a hearing on the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings in both cases, as well as the Defendants' Motion to Permit Deposition of Camille Hodge Sr. on Issues Related to the Arbitration Agreement and several other outstanding motions that are not at issue in this appeal. On March 15, 2015, the trial court filed its Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or Alternatively to Compel Arbitration. (R. p. 1). That same day, the trial court filed its Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr. (R. p. 13). The Defendants timely filed a Motion to for Reconsideration of the denial of their motions. (R. p. 282; R. p. 304). On May 4, 2015, the trial court denied the Defendants Motion for Reconsideration. (R. p. 15). The Defendants filed their Notice of Appeal with the Court of Appeals on June 2, 2015. (R. p. 326; R. p. 346) The Defendants served the Notice of Appeal on the Respondent on June 2, 2015. This appeal followed.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination unless the parties provide otherwise. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). This determination is subject to de novo review. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014). Nevertheless, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if the findings are reasonably supported by the evidence. *York v. Dodgeland of Columbia, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 67, 78, 749 S.E.2d 139, 144 (Ct. App. 2013). Both federal and state policy favor arbitrating disputes. *Heffner v. Destiny, Inc.*, 321 S.C. 536, 537, 471 S.E.2d 135, 136 (1995) (“The policy of the United States and this State is to favor arbitration of disputes.”); *Cox v. Woodmen of World Ins. Co.*, 347 S.C. 460, 464, 556 S.E.2d 397, 399 (Ct. App. 2001) (“There is a strong presumption in favor of the validity of arbitration agreements because of the strong policy favoring arbitration.”). Therefore, all doubts regarding the scope of an arbitration clause must be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United Healthcare Servs., Inc.*, 361 S.C. 544, 550, 606 S.E.2d 752, 755 (2004). “[T]he party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Dean*, 408 S.C. at 379, 759 S.E.2d at 731 (citation omitted).

A trial court’s “rulings on discovery matters will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.” *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989) (citing *Hook v. Rothstein*, 281 S.C. 541, 316 S.E.2d 690) (Ct. App. 1984)). Abuse of discretion occurs “where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and,

therefore, amounted to an error of law. *Dunn*, 298 S.C. at 499, 381 S.E.2d at 735 (citing *Darden v. Witham*, 263 S.C. 183, 209 S.E.2d 42 (1974)).

**I. The trial court erred in refusing to compel the deposition of Camille Hodge, Sr., as the determination of the enforceability of the arbitration agreement involved issues of fact.**

As an initial matter, the trial court erred in refusing to compel the deposition testimony of Camille Hodge, Sr. The determination of whether or not to compel arbitration in this case revolves around questions of agency, third-party beneficiary law, and equitable estoppel. Because all these issues involve questions of fact, the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Defendants to depose Mr. Hodge, Sr. on the issues related to arbitration prior to the court's ruling on arbitration.

In South Carolina, the existence of an agency relationship is a question of fact. *Am. Fed. Bank FSB v. Number One Main Joint Venture*, 321 S.C. 169, 173-74, 467 S.E.2d 439, 442 (1996) (citing *Gamble v. Stevenson*, 305 S.C. 104, 406 S.E.2d 350 (1991)). Similarly, the determination of a party's status as a third-party beneficiary is a question of fact. *See Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005) (upholding a grant of summary judgment because there was no evidence appellant was an intended third-party beneficiary). Equitable estoppel also often involves questions of fact. *See Gaymon v. Richland Mem'l Hosp.*, 327 S.C. 66, 68, 488 S.E.2d 332, 333 (1997) (holding that "equitable estoppel may involve a question of fact for the fact-finder").

In the instant case, the Defendants should have been allowed to depose Camille Hodge, Sr. on the issues of agency, third-party beneficiary, and equitable estoppel. In its Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings, the Court held that there was an "absence of any evidence that Mable

Hodge gave her husband express authority to act for her.” (R. p. 8). Similarly, the trial court held “[i]t is essential to the doctrine of apparent agency that the purported principal has in some fashion represented or ‘held out’ the purported agent as having been given authority by the principal.” (R. p. 9). The trial court concluded that Defendants “presented no such evidence to the Court.” *Id.*

Yet the trial court refused to allow Defendants to depose the alleged agent, Camille Hodge, Sr., on the issues related to arbitration and the Decedent’s admission to the Facility. Essentially, the trial court held that the Defendants failed to present sufficient factual support for their agency claims while denying them the opportunity to procure that evidence. There was evidence in this case that Ms. Hodge had authorized her family members, including her husband, to make medical decisions on her behalf, as Mr. Hodge Sr. had signed numerous medical documents for her on other occasions. (R. pp. 262, 265-280); (R. p. 371, ll. 14-22). The Defendants should be allowed to inquire into the scope of Mr. Hodge, Sr.’s authority to act as an agent on his wife’s behalf, and it was abuse of discretion for the trial court to prevent this inquiry. Therefore, the trial court’s Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Compel Deposition must be reversed.

**II. The trial court erred in denying the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration or, Alternatively, Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings.**

The trial court also erred in failing to compel arbitration in this matter. The court based its decision on an erroneous interpretation of an unpublished Court of Appeals opinion, while ignoring the well-settled common law doctrines of agency, third-party beneficiary, and equitable estoppel. Therefore, the trial court’s Order Denying Defendants’

Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, to Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings must be reversed.

**a. The trial court erred in relying on the unpublished opinion *Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Op. No. 2014-UP-317 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 6, 2014).**

The trial court based its decision largely on a three-factor test created from the unpublished Court of Appeals opinion *Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Op. No. 2014-UP-317 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 6, 2014). The three factors used by the trial court in determining not to compel arbitration were: (1) Ms. Hodge was competent at the time Mr. Hodge, Sr. signed the arbitration agreement on her behalf but UPAC-Bamberg failed to obtain Ms. Hodge's signature; (2) Mr. Hodge, Sr. had no health care power of attorney with regard to Ms. Hodge; and (3) UPAC-Bamberg's "Arbitration Checklist" instructs that if a patient is competent then the Facility's employees should obtain the patient's signature on the arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 6-7). The Court concluded "that these three factors prevent UPAC[-Bamberg] from compelling arbitration pursuant to the Arbitration Agreement under the facts of this case." *Id.* This conclusion was in error.

Initially, the trial recognizes in its Order that the *Scott* opinion is unpublished and has no precedential value. (R., p. 5 n.3). *See also* Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR ("Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved."). Nevertheless, it relies on the opinion as "persuasive" and utilizes a three-factor test constructed from statements in the unpublished *Scott* opinion. Not only does the unpublished opinion have no precedential value, the "test" utilized by the trial court is not meant to be construed as such. The *Scott* opinion merely sets forth its decision to affirm the lower court decision as a series of brief

factual statements. Furthermore, the lengthy string cites following the portion of the opinion quoted in the trial court's order reveal that the Court of Appeals considered additional facts not set forth in the quoted portion of the unpublished opinion. *Scott*, Op. No. 2014-UP-317 at \*2.

Further, the test relied on by the trial court ignores established agency, third-party beneficiary, and equitable estoppel law as discussed at length in sections b-d, *infra*. For example, under the trial court's test, even where a patient has identified another person as her agent and expressly authorized that individual to sign documents on her behalf, the agency claim would still fail because the patient was competent and had no healthcare power of attorney. Not only is this holding contrary to South Carolina agency law, it would also run afoul of federal arbitration law, which requires that arbitration agreements be treated the same as all other contracts. *See, e.g. Gilmer v. Interstate/Johnson Lane Corp.*, 500 U.S. 20, 24 (1991) (noting that the purpose of the FAA "was to reverse the longstanding judicial hostility to arbitration agreements . . . and to place arbitration agreements on the same footing as other contracts"); *Rent-A-Center, West, Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 67 (2010) ("[t]he FAA thereby places arbitration agreements on an equal footing with other contracts"). The trial court's test would mean that arbitration contracts would be declared invalid under the same circumstances that other contracts would be enforceable under the law of agency, third-party beneficiary, and equitable estoppel, a result expressly prohibited by federal law. Therefore, the trial court's reliance on a test created from the factual statements set forth in *Scott* is misplaced, and the court's decision must be reversed.

**b. The trial court erred in finding there was no common law agency between the Decedent and her husband, Camille Hodge, Sr.**

The trial court erred in holding that the Decedent's husband, Camille Hodge, Sr., was not authorized to sign his wife into UPAC-Bamberg. The validity of the arbitration agreement in this case must be determined in accordance with the general principles of contract law and agency law that would apply to any other contract. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 387 S.C. 525, 531, 693 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2010), *vacated sub nom. Sonic Automotive, Inc.*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 131 S.Ct. 2872, 179 L. Ed. 2d 1184 (2011), *reinstated*, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011). Mr. Hodge had taken over many of his wife's medical affairs without objection by her and thus had become an agent for her. *See R&G Constr., Inc., v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 433, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000) ("When a principal, by any such acts or conduct, has knowingly caused or permitted another to appear to be his agent, either generally or for a particular purpose, he will be estopped to deny such agency to the injury of third persons who have in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable prudence dealt with the agent on the faith of such appearances."); (R. pp. 262, 265-280); (R. p. 371, ll. 14-22). The Defendants relied upon Mr. Hodge, Sr.'s representations that he was authorized to sign Decedent into the Facility. Ms. Hodge permitted him to sign contracts on her behalf on this occasion and on prior occasions.

The trial court failed to find an apparent agency relationship was established based upon the evidence presented. An apparent agency is established when the purported principal has represented another to be her agent by either affirmative conduct or conscious and voluntary inaction and there is reliance upon the agency representation with a corresponding change in position as a result. *Watkins v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 291 S.C. 62, 67, 352 S.E.2d 284, 287 (Ct. App. 1986); *ZIV Television Programs, Inc. v. Associated Grocers*,

*Inc. of South Carolina*, 236 S.C. 448, 453, 114 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1960). “The apparent authority of an agent results from conduct or other manifestations of the principal's consent, whereby third persons are justified in believing the agent is acting within his authority.” *R & G Constr.*, 343 S.C. at 433–34, 540 S.E.2d at 118. “Such authority is implied where the principal passively permits the agent to appear to a third person to have the authority to act on his behalf.” *Id.* at 434, 540 S.E.2d at 118. “Agency may be implied or inferred and *may be proved circumstantially by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal.*” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In the present case, Ms. Hodge allowed, passively or otherwise, her husband Mr. Hodge, Sr., to not only sign her into the Facility, but also to handle other medical affairs for her. There is no evidence of any objection to Mr. Hodge, Sr. signing the UPAC-Bamberg admissions documents on behalf of Ms. Hodge. Thus, Mr. Hodge, Sr. had the apparent authority to handle his wife's medical affairs, as well as her admission into the nursing home, specifically. *See Pee Dee Nursing Home v. Florence Gen. Hosp.*, 309 S.C. 80, 419 S.E.2d 834 (Ct. App. 1992) (“The doctrine of apparent authority provides that the principal is bound by the acts of its agent when it has placed the agent in such a position that persons of ordinary prudence, reasonably knowledgeable with business usages and customs, are led to believe the agent has certain authority and they in turn deal with the agent based on that assumption. . . . [T]he concept of apparent authority depends upon manifestations by the principal to a third party and the reasonable belief by the third party that the agent is authorized to bind the principal.”). Therefore, the trial court erred in denying the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

**c. The trial court erred in finding that the Decedent was not a third-party beneficiary of the agreement.**

The trial court ruled that the Decedent could not be bound to the arbitration agreement as a third-party beneficiary because there was never a valid contract. This was error.

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