RECEIVED  
OCT 13 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BAMBERG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Case Nos.: 2014-CP-05-17 and 19  
Appellate Case No. 2015-001183

Camille Hodge, Jr., as Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Mable Hodge, .....Respondent,  
v.

UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg County  
Nursing Center; United Health Services of South Carolina, Inc.;  
United Health Services, Inc.; UHS-Pruitt Holdings, Inc. a/k/a  
UHS-Pruitt Corp.; R. Dale Padgett, MD, PA; and Dr. Herbert A. Moskow,  
of Whom UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC f/k/a Bamberg

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

## ARGUMENT

The South Carolina Supreme Court and this Court have recently decided the precise issues that are before the Court today. In fact, the appellant who is before the Court today recently argued this same issue to this same Court through arguments by the same lawyer who represents them today. This Court rejected those arguments in the other case and should do so here as well.

**1. A Nursing Home May Not Bind a Competent Patient to an Arbitration Agreement When the Nursing Home, in Violation of its Own Policy, Chooses Not to Obtain the Patient's Signature to the Agreement and Instead Chooses to Obtain Only the Signature of a Family Member Who Has No Power of Attorney.**

Appellant correctly states that federal and state policy tend to favor the arbitration of disputes. (Initial Brief of Appellants, p. 6) Appellants fail, however, to mention to this Court two other controlling principles that govern this case. The first principle is that “a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit.” Int'l Paper Co. v. Scwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000). The second governing principle is that arbitration “is a matter of consent, not coercion.” Volt Information Sciences, Inc. v. Board. of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University, 489 U.S. 468, 479 (1989).

Moreover, South Carolina's appellate courts have recently ruled on the specific question before the Court today – whether a nursing home may enforce an arbitration agreement against one of its patients when the nursing home has obtained the signature of the patient's relative but has failed to obtain the signature of the patient herself. South Carolina's appellate courts have twice ruled the answer to that question is “no.”

On March 12, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued an opinion in Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014). In Coleman, the circuit court denied the nursing home's motion to compel arbitration because the arbitration agreement was signed by the patient's relative but not by the patient. The nursing home appealed, and the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed the circuit court's denial. In that case, the Supreme Court ruled that even though the patient was incompetent at the time of her admission to the nursing home, and even though the patient's sister had statutory authority to make health care decisions for her sister under the Adult Health Care Consent Act, see S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-10 *et seq.*, she could not waive her sister's right to a jury trial by entering into an arbitration agreement with the nursing home that would be binding on her sister. The Court held that "decision making by the surrogate is a last resort. For example, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30(E) states that no one may consent to 'health care decisions' if the patient's inability to consent is temporary and that waiting for the patient to regain competency will not result in significant detriment to the patient's health." Coleman, 407 S.C. at 353, 755 S.E.2d at 454. That is, even if the patient is incompetent and there is no one else to make the decision, a family member cannot waive the patient's right to a jury trial and bind that patient to an arbitration agreement (except as a "last resort" when the incompetency is not temporary and significant harm to the patient is imminent).

Even more recently, this Court faced the same question – in an appeal brought by the same defendant and represented by the same lawyer – as are before the Court today. Just last year, this Court decided the case of Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC., Opinion No. 2014-UP-317, 2014 WL 3845113 (Ct. App. Aug. 6, 2014), cert. denied,

S.C. Sup. Ct. dated February 20, 2015 (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 8, at 14), in which this same appellant appealed an Order by Judge Carmen Mullen denying its motion to compel arbitration where the appellant had, once again, failed to obtain the resident's signature on its arbitration agreement and, instead, had obtained the signature of a family member only. This Court affirmed Judge Mullen's Order, and the Supreme Court denied appellant's petition for certiorari. Id. Now, the same appellant represented by the same lawyer raises the same issue in yet another appeal and hopes for a different result.

Appellant repeatedly asserts that the trial court erred in relying on a "test" established by Scott. (See e.g., Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 10 ("the test relied on by the trial court ....") That representation is simply not accurate. First, the trial court made clear in its Order that it was not relying on this Court's decision in Scott but that it did find the Court's reasoning to be persuasive. (Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, Compel Arbitration and Stay Proceedings, R. p. 5, n. 3) Moreover, the trial court never once spoke of Scott as having established a "test." That language comes from the appellant only. The trial court did note, however, that the facts presented in the instant case are very nearly identical to the facts presented only months earlier in the Scott case and that the reasoning of Judge Mullen and of this Court in refusing to enforce the nursing home's arbitration agreement were "persuasive."

In Scott, Judge Mullen denied UPAC's motion to compel arbitration when – as here – UPAC obtained the signature of the patient's relative (Ellen Jenkins) but failed to obtain the patient's (Elizabeth Jones) own signature on its arbitration agreement. UPAC appealed the denial to this Court and this Court affirmed Judge Mullen's Order. This Court ruled as follows:

“We affirm as to whether Ellen Jenkins had authority to sign the arbitration agreement on [her sister] Elizabeth Jones’ behalf when Jones was competent at the time she was admitted to Heritage, and Jenkins did not possess a health care power of attorney to sign either contract on Jones’ behalf. We find the evidence reasonably supports the trial court’s findings that Jenkins lacked authority to enter into the Arbitration Agreement on Jones’ behalf because Jones was competent at the time of her admission, and Sally Dobson, the admissions director for Heritage, agreed it would have been more appropriate for Jones to sign the contract herself because she was competent, and Dobson did not know if Jenkins had a power of attorney. Therefore, we find the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable against Respondent.”

Scott, 2014 WL 3845113, at \*1 (emphasis added). The South Carolina Supreme Court then denied appellant’s petition for certiorari on the same day that Judge Newman heard arguments in the case at hand.

In Scott, this Court focused on three issues that resulted in a finding that the Arbitration Agreement was unenforceable: 1) the patient was competent at the time her family member signed the Arbitration Agreement, and UPAC failed to obtain the signature of the competent patient; 2) the family member had no health care power of attorney vesting her with authority to sign on the patient’s behalf; and 3) UPAC acknowledged that it should have obtained the patient’s signature on the arbitration agreement. All three of those factors are present in the case at hand and, as in Scott and as in Coleman, prevent UPAC from enforcing an arbitration agreement against a patient who never signed the agreement.

First, Mrs. Hodge was clearly competent at the time of her admission, yet UPAC did not have her sign the Arbitration Agreement. Among the documents presented to the trial judge was the History and Physical of Mrs. Hodge that was taken at the time of her admission to UPAC. The History and Physical reflects that Mrs. Hodge was “a well developed and well nourished female in no real distress” and that Mrs. Hodge had a “full

range of motion” of her extremities. At the hearing on this matter, counsel for UPAC conceded to the court that “[t]he evidence is she was competent.” (Transcript, R. p. 391, line 3)

Moreover, UPAC elected to have Mrs. Hodge personally sign certain documents – but not the Arbitration Agreement – at the time of her admission. The trial judge was presented with and considered a UPAC document titled “Inventory of Personal Effect” that was dated September 1, 2010 – the day after Mrs. Hodge was admitted to UPAC – that UPAC presented to Mrs. Hodge and that was signed by Mrs. Hodge. (Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant UPAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exhibit 6, R. p. 260) When UPAC wanted Mrs. Hodge to sign documents, they knew how to have her do so. She was competent and could have signed the Arbitration Agreement but did not do so.

Second, at the time of her admission to UPAC, Mrs. Hodge had vested no one with a health care power of attorney or other power of attorney to make decisions on her behalf. The trial court was presented with and considered a form that was completed just days prior to Mrs. Hodge’s admission to UPAC while she was still a patient at Providence Hospital. The form clearly indicates that Mrs. Hodge has not executed a Health Care Power of Attorney. (Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant UPAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exhibit 7, R. p. 262) This form was in Mrs. Hodge’s medical record and easily accessible by UPAC if they chose to inquire.

Third, as in Scott, the trial court was presented with uncontradicted evidence that UPAC knows that it must obtain a patient’s signature on its Arbitration Agreements if the patient is competent. The trial judge received and considered UPAC’s own “Arbitration

Checklist” that appellant has created and distributed to its employees with instructions on how to obtain an enforceable arbitration agreement with its residents. The very first line of that checklist instructs UPAC employees to “Determine competency of patient/resident.” Then, UPAC instructs its employees to “Secure appropriate signatures:” (emphasis in original). According to its own document, UPAC acknowledges that when a patient is “**Competent, capable of signature – Patient/resident must** initial each page in lower right hand corner and sign and date the final page in the presence of Admissions Coordinator and one witness.” (emphasis added) That is, UPAC knows beyond dispute, that what it did in the Scott case and what it did in the instant case is not acceptable and does not create an enforceable arbitration agreement. That is why it has instructed its employees – in writing – that they “**must**” obtain the signature of a competent patient. Now UPAC asks this Court to excuse it from acting as it has recognized it must act when a resident is competent and has not provided a power of attorney to someone else.

As noted by the Circuit Court, UPAC has likely instituted the rules above in order to comply with federal regulations that govern nursing homes like UPAC that accept federal funds. Those federal regulations mandate that UPAC must obtain the signature of a competent patient and may not rely on the signature of a surrogate or representative. These regulations state that “the facility may seek a health care decision (or any other decision or authorization) from a surrogate or representative only when the resident is unable to make the decision.” Guidance to Surveyors for Long Term Care Facilities, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, Publ. 100-7, State Operations Manual, (Interpretive Guidelines to 42 C.F.R. §483.10(a)(3) and (4)) found at

[https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap\\_pp\\_guidelines\\_ltcf.pdf](https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/downloads/som107ap_pp_guidelines_ltcf.pdf) (visited August 20, 2015). (emphasis added). In short, UPAC asks this Court to allow it to continue to receive federal funds through Medicare and otherwise but to exempt it from federal guidelines that require it to obtain the signature of a competent patient. If UPAC had simply complied with its own rules and regulations, it would not be before this Court today.

In sum, Appellant now asks this Court to ignore South Carolina law, federal law, and its own guidelines by allowing a family member with no power of attorney to bind a competent individual to a nursing home arbitration agreement. That is not the law, and UPAC's own documents acknowledge that it is not the proper procedure.

**2. The Nursing Home's Alternative Arguments of Merger and Estoppel Also Fail.**

In the Scott case cited above, Appellant made all of the same arguments – merger, estoppels and agency – that it is making to this Court today. This Court gave short shrift to those arguments: “We decline to address Heritage’s remaining arguments because we find this issue [the resident never signed the Arbitration Agreement] is dispositive.” Scott, 2014 WL 3845113, at \*2. That is, Appellant’s failure to follow its own procedures and obtain a valid and enforceable signature to the Arbitration Agreement prevents it from arguing that the resident is somehow bound to an agreement that she never signed.

Nonetheless, Appellant argues that Mrs. Hodge should be equitably estopped from denying the Arbitration Agreement because she received the “benefit” of staying in their nursing home. Putting aside the issue of whether the stay was a benefit when she arrived in “no real distress” and was wheeled out three weeks later as a paraplegic for the remainder of her life, there is no question that she received no “benefit” from the

Arbitration Agreement that Appellant seeks to enforce against her. Equitable estoppel applies only to prevent a party from relying on one part of a contract while seeking to deny another part of the same contract. As this Court has ruled: “[i]n the arbitration context, the doctrine [of equitable estoppel applies] when [one party] has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him.” Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 290, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). In the instant case, the respondents have made no contract claims against the Appellant. There is no attempt by Respondents to enforce any contract, much less the Arbitration Agreement at issue here. Therefore, the doctrine of equitable estoppel does not apply to this case at all.

Moreover, the Supreme Court in Coleman addressed these same merger and estoppel arguments in detail and held that the nursing home’s Arbitration Agreement did not merge with the nursing home’s separate Admission Agreement. The Court held that, as here, the nursing home had chosen to make the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement two separate documents and because the nursing home had drafted the documents, any ambiguity would be resolved against them. The Court then noted that, as here, the nursing home’s admission agreement contains language that intentionally makes it a separate agreement from the Arbitration Agreement. Despite Appellant’s protestations to the contrary, that is equally true of the case at hand. Appellant’s admission agreement states on its face that the Admissions Agreement “is the exclusive statement of the terms and conditions between the parties with respect to the matters set forth herein, and supersedes all prior agreements. . .” (Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant UPAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration,

Exhibit 2, ¶ I, R. p. 244, ¶ I) The Supreme Court in Coleman also found persuasive the fact that “the AA [Arbitration Agreement] could be disclaimed within thirty days of signing while the admission agreement could not, evidencing an intention that each contract remain separate.” Coleman, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E. 2d at 455. Appellant’s Arbitration Agreement in the case at hand contains the exact same language: “This Agreement may be revoked by written notice to the Healthcare Center from the Patient/Resident within thirty (30) days of signature.” (Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant UPAC’s Motion to Compel Arbitration, Exhibit 3, R. p. 253) Finally, the Supreme Court in Coleman held that even if there is “an ambiguity as to merger, the law is clear that any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter.” Coleman at 355-56. Each of those reasons applies with equal force to the case at hand and the Supreme Court has clearly held that, in such circumstances, the nursing home cannot prevail on a claim for merger or equitable estoppel.

**3. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Ruling that a Deposition Would Not Alter its Decision Regarding Agency.**

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